ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Circuit Court erred as a matter of law by failing to consider undisputed facts and law as stated in Professor John W. Fisher, II's opinions dated November 19, 2019, June 4, 2020, and July 17, 2020.
- 2. The Circuit Court committed plain error in denying the Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment which error precludes Plaintiffs from presenting to a jury any evidence that the subject right of way is a public way including testimony of Plaintiffs' expert John W. Fisher, II, the official 1905 Upshur County Map, AKA "The A. B. Brooks Map", State Geological Survey maps, and a concurrent historical newspaper article dated June 29, 1905 from the local newspaper The Buckhannon Delta and Knight-Errant, the newspaper of general circulation in Upshur County, all of which is unrebutted by the Defendants.
- 3. The Circuit Court committed plain error in granting the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and concluding, as a matter of law with <u>no</u> findings of fact, that the subject right of way was created by prescriptive right when Defendants presented and proffered <u>no</u> evidence of facts supporting a claim by prescriptive right.
- 4. The Circuit Court erred by effectively ruling the width of the right of way is limited solely to the existing road surface when the unrebutted evidence and testimony of Plaintiffs' expert John W. Fisher, II demonstrates that it is a county road by statute with a minimum right of way of thirty (30) feet in width, "plus slopes", and if that were not the case, Plaintiffs' expert G. A. Covey that a single lane country road must have a right of way width of twenty-five (25) feet.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action between Upshur County landowners filed on December 27, 2017, after an incident on April 28, 2017, in which Defendant Lora A. Long blocked in a gravel truck which Plaintiff Timothy Gregory had contracted to maintain and repair their shared right of way.

In their Answer and filings, the Defendants admitted the existence of the right of way, characterized it as a "right of way by prescriptive right", and strongly asserted their belief that it was limited in width to the existing vehicle tracks, at various times nine (9), ten (10), or twelve (12) feet.

On or about August 10, 2018, Defendants', through their counsel, filed a "Motion to Strike Survey and Testimony of G. A. Covey Engineering" and Defendants' "Motion for Summary Judgment and Memorandum of Law". (Appendix pg. 1)

The Plaintiffs' Motion to Leave to File Amended Complaint and proposed Amended Complaint was filed on October 2, 2018. The Plaintiffs added counts to address tortious interference and damages.

In responding to the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and Memorandum of Law, which was denied by the trial court in an "Order Denying Motion for Summary Judgment" entered October 26, 2018 (Appendix pg. 147), the Plaintiffs tendered the affidavits, quoted below, of many Upshur County citizens with direct knowledge of the right of way in question and also of surveyor/engineer Gary A. Covey who stated his opinion that the minimum width for a single lane private right of way in order to be properly engineered and safely used is twenty-five (25) feet.

In light of Professor Fisher's opinion, the issue that Defendants have labeled "functional width", and therefore, Mr. Covey's opinions, are no longer relevant, but could become relevant if this matter is not remanded to the trial court with instructions to recognize the subject right of way as a "county road" thirty (30) feet in width "plus slopes".

The Trial Court granted Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend by Order entered March 26, 2019.

The Plaintiffs allege, in pertinent part, in their Complaint and (first Amended Complaint) the existence of a right of way in Upshur County, West Virginia, which runs across land of the Defendants and runs in front of their residence providing the sole ingress and egress access to real estate owned by the Plaintiffs and containing a total of approximately one hundred fifty-two (152) acres.

At the time of filing, Plaintiffs were unable to allege the exact mechanism for the creation of the right of way, which has existed longer than human memory, but alleged Plaintiffs' ownership by "various deeds" in the chain of title. That allegation is true and accurate as Plaintiffs own their land which abuts a county road, as explained below.

Plaintiffs filed their "Motion for Summary Judgment" (Appendix pg. 160) when they encountered the revelation that the right of way in question was, and continues to be, "a county road" which, by statutes, as referenced below, is no less than thirty (30) feet "plus slopes". The road is not maintained by the County or State, and Plaintiffs waived any claim that they are so obligated.

The County of Upshur, in a brief filed by David Godwin, Prosecuting Attorney, stated that the right of way was never abandoned by the county, nor was it ever transferred to the State.

In light of the additional delay, and of Defendants' intentional actions in blocking the Plaintiffs from the full use of their property, and even blocking in a truck which had brought gravel to fill in potholes and repair the road, Plaintiffs added the counts of "tortious interference" and "damages" to their original Complaint.

Plaintiffs' civil action was filed under the general jurisdiction of the Circuit Court and West Virginia's Declaratory Judgment Act, West Virginia Code §55-13-1, et seq., wherein they sought a clear declaration by the Court of the respective rights and interests of the parties relative to the subject right of way and the use of their respective properties. It sought nothing from the County or State who were not parties.

On or about December 14, 2018, Plaintiff Timothy Gregory's brother, Jesse Gregory, brought to counsel a photocopy of a portion of what appeared to be an ancient map, which clearly showed the subject right of way as a marked "road" commencing at the intersection upon which is located the church formally known as "Ebenezer M. E. Church". It is now the Laurel Fork Church.

During oral argument, Plaintiffs' counsel proffered to the Trial Court that he had begun an investigation which included a visit to the Department of Highways Regional Office, District Seven (7), south of Weston, Lewis County, West Virginia where he met with a State employee who called himself "the right-of-way guy", John Fitzsimmons, with Dustin Zickefoose, Upshur County Assessor, and with Terri Jo Bennett, Upshur County Building Permit Office, and he consulted with well-known real estate and right-of-way experts and colleagues, and Upshur County historian Noel Tenney, and that he had determined the subject right of way to be a neglected, but never abandoned, county road.

Counsel filed a true photograph of a replica of the map known as the "A. B. Brooks, Buckhannon, W.Va. 1905" which encompasses the portion of the map brought to Mr. Hunter by Jesse Gregory.

It is undisputed that there are two original 1905 "A. B. Brooks Maps" framed and mounted in the central hallway of the Upshur County Courthouse where they have been for over 100 years. These maps likewise show markings representing the road right-of-way from the above referenced corner to a house labeled as "Geo. Hamner", a predecessor in title to the Plaintiffs.

The "Geo. Hamner" house was located on real estate owned by George T. Hamner, Arminda Hamner, and Elizabeth Phillips. This was a 40-acre tract, which is now encompassed by Petitioners' property.

This tract was then conveyed to John Perry in a deed recorded in Deed Book 9 at page 63.

John Perry also acquired 24 acres from A. W. Brady by deed of record in Deed Book 9 at page 62.

Those tracts were conveyed to Arminda Hamner in 1904 by deed of record in Deed Book 46 at page 233.

Plaintiff Timothy J. Gregory acquired his property, including the Hamner property, by various deeds:

- a. Deed Book 345 at page 718, Dailey Gregory, unmarried to Timothy J. Gregory, dated November 25, 1988 (64 acres, more or less);
- b. Deed Book 345 at page 720, Dailey Gregory, unmarried, to Timothy J. Gregory, dated November 25, 1988 (95 acres, more or less; 1 acre coal, more or less; 1 acre, more or less; 5 acres, more or less); and

c. Deed Book 378 at page 801, Troy A. Brady, Jr., single, to Timothy Gregory, dated April 20, 1994 (2 acres, more or less).

There are contained at the bottom of the A. B. Brooks 1905 Map the following words: "MADE BY A. B. BROOKS, BUCKHANNON, W. VA. 1905. THE ORIGINAL OF THIS MAP WAS MADE FOR THE COUNTY COURT UNDER THE DIRECTION OF EUGENE BROWN, CLERK".

The "Explanation", or legend, of the A. B. Brooks (Upshur County) Map shows that a double broken line indicates "a road".

The map showed the location of approximately 1,638 residential houses, but, in every case, there were no driveways shown. Thus, "the road" shown on this 1905 official County Map was a public county road in 1905, not a private driveway.

The route to the "Hamner" residence is clearly marked, on the county map, as "a road". It is in the identical spot, of the "vacation residence", former family residence of Plaintiff Timothy J. Gregory and his family.

The current structure was formerly the home of Timothy Gregory's parents, now deceased.

There were annexed to Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment and incorporated by reference affidavits of thirteen (13) people. Their names and pertinent quotations contained therein are listed below:

- a. James Gregory (Age: Approx. 47);
 - 1. I am Dailey Gregory's grandson and Tim Gregory's nephew.
 - 2. The roadway in question has been there since before I was a kid. I am 47.
 - 3. I know that the roadway was used for logging, timbering, cattle, and other farming uses.

b. Bill Landis;

- 1. Old timers have told me that a road grader used to turn around at the Gregory's to maintain the road.
- 2. The road was in bad shape until Tim Gregory fixed it with rock.
- 3. There is a saw mill out on the Gregory place.
- 4. Logs were hauled into the saw mill.
- 5. I have lived in that area for approximately thirty (30) years.
- c. Freddie Smith and Mary Smith (Mr. Smith Age 83; Mrs. Smith Age approx. 81);
 - 1. Mary Smith grew up in the area where the subject properties are located.
 - 2. Mary Smith is 81 years of age.
 - 3. There has always been a road in and out to the farm.
 - 4. The road was used for whatever was needed to be taken in and out to and from the farm.
 - 5. There was a saw mill up there are one time.
 - 6. That road was always a road that was traveled.

d. Betty Malcomb (Age: Approx. 57);

- 1. I used to stay with Tim Gregory's sister as a kid of about eight (8) years of age.
- 2. I am now 57 years of age.
- 3. The roadway in question was used to drive in and out to the house.
- 4. I know Tim Gregory's father timbered some.

e. Patty Gregory (Age: 54);

- 1. I am the daughter of Dailey Gregory and sister of Tim Gregory.
- 2. My father had a saw mill and hauled logs in and out the right of way.
- 3. He had a farm and raised cattle. Thus, he used the right of way for his cattle and farm related uses.
- 4. My recollections go back to my childhood.
- 5. Growing up we "rocked the road" by taking rocks from the fields and placing them in the mud holes.
- 6. The brush was not grown up along the roadway, it was clear on the sides of the road and at the fence lines, etc., not like it is now.

f. Mary Potts (Age: 80);

- 1. My property joins the old Gregory homeplace.
- 2. The right of way in question is the only way in and out, and has been there forever.
- 3. There is no road past Wares.

- 4. The roadway is in the same place as it has been over the years.
- 5. There used to be a sawmill on the Gregory property. Dailey utilized the sawmill.
- 6. There were cattle on the farm and farm equipment.
- 7. The roadway is now only wide enough for one (1) vehicle. However, trucks used to be able to access it.

g. Jesse Gregory (Age: 72);

- 1. I am the son of Dailey Gregory and brother of Timothy Gregory.
- 2. I am familiar with the real estate owned by my brother, the real estate owned by Mr. and Mrs. Long and the roadway that is the subject of their dispute.
- 3. I recall the roadway being utilized by my father and our family for timbering, agricultural and personal use.
- 4. My father had a saw mill on our property which he brought logs into and took lumber out from.
- 5. I know that my brother has maintained the roadway over the years until recent attempts to maintain the way were stopped by the Longs.
- 6. I have regularly and consistently utilized this roadway in question during my lifetime.

h. James Allen (Age: 49);

- 1. I have known the Gregory family for a long time.
- 2. The Gregory's had a mill on the property and hauled lumber/timber in and out.
- 3. I actually worked at the mill.
- 4. The roadway was always used to haul timber in and out and for farming such as hauling cattle and hay.
- 5. The roadway has been there many years longer than I have been alive.
- 6. Tim Gregory has done most of the upkeep of the road himself.

i. Janette Yakobics (Age: 67);

- 1. I am familiar with the road out to the "Gregory place".
- 2. I never knew it to just be a "right of way".
- 3. The roadway was always used.
- 4. Dailey Gregory had a sawmill there.
- 5. The roadway was used for timbering and access to/from the sawmill.

j. Ron Hurst (Age: Approx. 66);

- 1. My grandparents lived out toward the Gregory property in the 1940s.
- 2. There was a residence there, probably before the turn of the century.
- 3. The roadway, or right of way, was used for decades for accessing the home, farms, farming, and taking timber in and out.
- 4. My guess is that the roadway has been utilized in excess of 100 years.
- 5. I am 66 years old.
- 6. The roadway in question is the only way to physically access the property.

k. Rodney Cassidy (Age: Approx. 51); and

- 1. I grew up in the area around properties now owned by Tim Gregory and the Longs.
- 2. I am now 51 years of age and was there from the time I was three (3) or four (4) years of age.
- 3. I still travel to that area at least monthly.
- 4. I know that the right of way went to a farmhouse.
- 5. I am aware that the right of way was utilized by log trucks, horses, tractors, and vehicles.
- 6. I know that the right of way used to be rough but Tim Gregory spent time and money to make the road better.

1. Gary Strader (Age: 68).

- 1. I Gary Strader am familiar with the property owned by the Longs and the right-of-way in question.
- 2. I lived there from approximately 1951 to 1963.
- 3. When I lived there the right of way was clear.
- 4. I know the property formerly owned by Dailey Gregory now owned by Timothy Gregory.
- 5. Dailey Gregory was my uncle.
- 6. I know that Daley Gregory had cattle and a sawmill.
- 7. When I lived there, there was no issue with regard to the use f the right of way.

Defendants admit the existence of the road but assert, without disclosure of any factual support, affidavits, deeds, letters, other documentation, physical evidence, or evidence whatsoever, that the right-of-way, which has existed for over 100 years, was obtained by Plaintiffs' predecessors through "prescriptive right".

Therefore, Defendants single pillar in support of their contention that the subject right-of-way is no wider than 12 feet is there reliance on their belief that the right-of-way was created by "prescriptive right" and was only ten (10) to twelve (12) feet in width when created. This position ignores the evidence that it is a country road and the affidavits and the allegations of the use of this road during human memory. Defendants have submitted no evidence of when or how the right of way was created, NONE.

The creation of Upshur County maps known herein as "The 1933 Map" and "The 1937 Map", which actually were produced many years later, is a convoluted story, rife with politics. However, neither of those maps reveal the transfer by the County of Upshur to the State of West Virginia for purposes of maintenance and control; nor is there any documentary evidence of an abandonment. As the county, by its counsel, has attested, it remains a county road, albeit neglected.

West Virginia law, cited below, and referenced by Professor Fisher in his opinions above (pgs.5-8), clearly states that neglect is not abandonment.

Even if the right of way were private, which it is not, there is overwhelming evidence of continuous use by landowners and no evidence of non-use or abandonment. There are <u>no</u> allegations of non-use" and abandonment.

Plaintiffs also aver, as supported by the "A. B. Brooks Map" and the above referenced verified affidavits, that the right-of-way in question, while not maintained by the County in recent years, has been used continuously for residential, farm, and timbering purposes since its inception. (emphasis added.)

As do prior statutes cited herein, the 1918 West Virginia Code §1940-68, ROADS, BRIDGES, LANDINGS, ETC., stated, in pertinent part:"...a right-of-way should be not less than thirty feet wide and the necessary slopes."

The A. B. Brooks Map, being the County's official declaration of all roads existing in the County and properties therein, designates the subject right of way as a "(County) Road" as of 1905, and is, as Professor Fisher opined, authoritative.

Professor Fisher explained that the road was created and recognized long before county roads, somewhere between 1930 and 1950, were transferred to control by the State, but this road was retained, albeit neglected, by the County. It is not shown on the map of roads transferred to the State.

Dean Fisher affirmed that some roads, never abandoned but considered "orphaned" or simply neglected by the County, were not transferred as shown by the map misnamed "1937 Map". They remained with the counties, albeit sometimes maintained only by the landowners.

Until Plaintiffs discovered the official, 1905, "A. B. Brooks Upshur County Map", the primary factual disputed issue was the width of the right-of-way which is the subject of this action. But that can no longer be considered a disputed issue. The width of the right of way was established by State Law in 1868, 1870, 1918, and 1931.

It is significant that there has never been a dispute prior to April 28, 2017, when Lora A. Long blocked the gravel truck, about the existence of the right-of-way or the right of the Plaintiffs to use it for ingress and egress, for residential use, for farm use, or for timbering. Defendants objection is pragmatic, solely for the purpose of keeping Plaintiffs from removing over \$250,000 worth of their timber.

Defendants have repeatedly asserted, without citing one witness or source, that the rightof-way in question was created by "prescriptive right".

This assertion bears review. What Plaintiffs are saying, because it is true, is that there is no letter, no journal entry, no official County or State record, no newspaper article, no witness, child of a witness, or grandchild of a witness who can tell this Court or a jury the circumstances of the creation of the subject right-of-way.

What is known is that when the County commissioned Mr. A. B. Brooks, and when his supervisor, Eugene Brown, Upshur County Clerk, directed him to complete the map which was made "under the direction of Mr. Brown", in 1905, the road already existed and was recognized as a "County Road". It is uncontroverted that the Brooks Map is the Official County Map.

The map, according to its legend, contained the following salient features: "county lines, churches and school houses, district lines, post offices, roads, streams, houses, points of interest, and post offices outside the county".

The A. B. Brooks Map contains the following language regarding how it was commissioned:

MADE BY

A. B. BROOKS, BUCKHANNON, W. VA.

1905.

THE ORIGINAL OF THIS MAP WAS MADE FOR THE COUNTY COURT UNDER THE DIRECTION OF EUGENE BROWN, CLERK.

The title of the A. B. Brooks Map shows it included everything including "County Roads", that title is:

MAP OF
UPSHUR COUNTY,
WEST VA.
SHOWING ALL DISTRICTS, POST OFFICES
STREAMS, COUNTY ROADS, THE

LOCATION OF FARM HOUSES, ETC.

This is the map that attorneys in Upshur County and hundreds of others have regularly referenced the A. B. Brooks Map in their efforts to verify and certify titles in Upshur County as have countless surveyors. With it, Plaintiffs do not simply establish the width of the right of way "by a preponderance of the evidence", but, according to Professor Fisher, beyond all doubt.

There was an affidavit by the Upshur County Clerk, Carol Smith, who states in pertinent part:

I am aware the A. B. Brooks Map has been hanging in the central hallway of the Upshur County Courthouse for many years. To my knowledge, there is no present equivalent or updated version.

I regularly refer to the Map for County features, many of which have changed, but many which remain, and I have assisted many visitors to the county clerk's office to the hallway to review such features.

The Virginia Code of 1860 and the West Virginia Codes of 1868, 1870, 1878, 1906, 1918, and 1931 all referenced "every road shall be thirty feet wide".

In 1918, just thirteen (13) years after the A. B. Brooks Map was published, the State of West Virginia, no doubt relying upon the identical principles of physics and engineering relied upon by Gary Covey, reaffirmed by statutory law that existed prior to West Virginia becoming a state, and declared:

No bridge unless it be exclusively for footmen, shall be less than fourteen feet wide. All public roads which are now established in any of the counties of this state as public roads shall occupy a right-of-way not less than thirty feet wide, unless the county court shall have made a special order for a different width, which order shall be a matter of record in the office of the county clerk. All public roads which may hereafter be established in any of the counties of this state, except main county roads, shall occupy a right-of-way not less than thirty feet wide and the necessary slopes. (emphasis added)

It simply existed, and its existence was recognized as a county road in 1905. Its width was established by the statutes of 1868, 1870, 1878, 1906, 1918, and 1931.

Thus, in 2017, the year this action was filed, the statutory width of this "established" county road had been thirty (30) feet for since at least 1860 under Virginia Law which was adopted by West Virginia, one hundred fifty-seven (157) years, and its existence had been officially recognized by the County one hundred twelve (112) years prior.

There is an argument that logging equipment has grown larger and that the use of modern equipment is not available to the Plaintiffs because the Longs' tree is in the way and that more modern equipment might take a foot or two more of width than the older logging trucks. Defendants would use this argument to make Plaintiffs' timber unmarketable. The growth of a tree, easily removed, cannot change the width of a county road.

That argument is fallacious. A width of twenty-five (25) to thirty (30) feet, including berms, ditches, slopes, and culverts, has been essential for a safe single lane rural ingress egress right-of-way much longer than human memory can say, but the essential width is revealed by the statutory width declared in 1868, 1870, 1878, 1906, 1918, and 1931.

There can be no doubt that a properly constructed ingress and egress road will materially benefit Defendants and increase the value of their land by the construction of the road proposed by the Plaintiffs.

Defendants' counsel has admitted that Plaintiffs are entitled to have a graveled surface running along the front of their residence property of at least ten (10) to twelve (12) feet in width.

The true motives of Defendants are transparent. They wish the Court to place such limitations on Plaintiffs' road that Plaintiffs will be prevented, entirely, from harvesting their timber and earning, for their retirement, a substantial "profit". Defendants prefer, regarding the timber harvest, that Plaintiffs be landlocked.

Defendants counsel has asserted that there is alternative access for the harvesting of the timber, but the Defendant Jack Long, in his deposition conducted on July 18, 2018, could provide nothing but bare assertions to support this assertion. Likewise, Defendant Lora Long. But, Plaintiffs and Gary Covey have stated there is no alternative.

Plaintiff Timothy Gregory testified that he lived on the property as a child, that he is familiar with the entirety of the property, and that there is no other access to public road.

Plaintiffs' expert, Gary Covey, opined that no access to the harvesting of timber exists which will be economically feasible. That is likewise the opinion of the timber company and its owner, Walter K. Depoy, a disclosed fact witness.

Plaintiffs are facing the considerable expense of a two day trial when no witness, no document, no photograph, no evidence of any kind, no expert, no case, no statute, no article, and no fact has been cited or disclosed by Defendants in support of their claim of prescriptive right.

Since the discovery of the A. B. Brooks Map, published in the year 1905, and the subsequent discovery of the "The Buckhannon Delta and Knight-Errant" newspaper article dated June 29, 1905, and of the "Base Map from U. S. Geological Survey Sheets Field Operations Bureau of Soils 1917" and of the 1918 "Map III of Upshur County and Western Portion of Randolph County Showing Topography West Virginia Geological Survey", and obtaining the unequivocal opinion of their expert, John W. Fisher, II, Plaintiffs have no need and therefore

have not asserted what the Defendants have labeled "Plaintiffs' Functional Width Theory". However, that theory is fully consistent with the testimony of Dean Fisher and the records referenced above in that the surveyor engineer expert, Gary Covey, firmly stated his opinion that a right-of-way of this nature must be at least 25 feet in width in order to comply with the standards of his profession.

Defendants failed to disclose their expert, Michael Green, in a timely manner and have failed to disclose any opinion that "expert" will render, have failed to provide his credentials, and have stated, simply, "Discussion as to existing width".

Plaintiffs' expert, John W. Fisher, II, was described in the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals, in the case of McClung Investments, Inc., v. Green Valley Community Public Service District, 485 S.E.2d 434, 199 W.Va. 490 (1997), "the foremost authority in this field (real estate contract law) in the State", by the Honorable Justice Menis Ketchem. He is the author of numerous West Virginia University College of Law, Law Review articles and, particularly, "A Survey of the Law of Easement in West Virginia", 112 W.Va.L.Rev. 637 (2010) as "a comprehensive article explaining the law of easements".

Professor Fisher served as interim Dean of the West Virginia University College of Law, and he testified that he took over from Professor Londo Brown as professor of real estate law, teaching at the West Virginia University College of Law from 1973 until his retirement in 2014, a period of 41 years.

Dean Fisher testified that he graduated number one in his law school class and that he has never seen a more compelling case for an opinion he rendered considering the evidence and law in this case.

Defense counsel, as stated in paragraph one (1) above, presented to Dean Fisher no fact in support of his theory of "prescriptive right". In response to the relevant question, Dean Fisher testified, "I don't see this particular easement as a prescriptive easement." P. 11 of summary.

The following exchange occurred:

Q. "Why don't you see it as a prescriptive easement?"

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