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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

After full and fair arguments of the pleadings, the trial Court properly granted the Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment because the Petitioners had no evidence to establish a prima facie case that the roadway located on the Respondents' real estate was a public road. There was no evidence of a deeded right-of-way presented to the Court. The lower Court made extensive Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and the lower Court further found pursuant to West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 56(b) that there was no genuine

issue as to any material fact regarding the claims of the Petitioners against the Respondents and that the Petitioners' claim for a declaration of a public road on the road traversing the Respondents' real estate was dismissed.

ARGUMENTS REGARDING PETITIONERS' ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED THE RESPONDENTS' MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS/SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

This case was thoroughly presented to the Circuit Court of Upshur County. The Petitioners initially began this case pleading that they had a written right-of-way over the Respondents' real estate by deed. This theory was never proven, and this theory was subsequently abandoned by the Petitioners as no evidence was presented to substantiate the existence of a deeded right-of-way.

The Petitioners became entrenched in their belief that the road on the Respondents' property had always been a public road and employed Professor John W. Fisher II to advance a theory that somewhere in the early history of the State of West Virginia or Commonwealth of Virginia that the road in litigation became a public road. Professor John W. Fisher II was unable to produce any evidence except conjecture how the road may have become public in his opinion.

The Circuit Court of Upshur County properly cited Ryan et. al. v. Monongalia County Court 86 W.VA. 40 (1920) that allows for three (3) ways by which privately owned land may become public or dedicated to public use. The three (3) elements are as follows:

 The land or road must be taken by the State through an eminent domain process with compensation to the owner. The Petitioners failed to produce any deed or

- writing to show that the land had ever been condemned for any public use. There were no minutes from the Upshur County Court or Commission or any recorded document reflecting a condemnation by any public entity.
- That the land was donated by the Respondents or their predecessor in title to a
 public body or government agency and was accepted by the public body. Rose v.
 Fisher 130 W.Va. 53 (1947) Michele L. Ford et.al. v. Gary Dickerson et al 662 S.E. 2d
 503.
- 3. That the land or road became public by continuous and adverse use by the public for a statutory period of time or by some official act of acceptance by a public entity which would have been proved by the expending of public funds for the maintenance of such road. Town of Bancroft v. Turley 170 W. VA. 1 287 S.E. 2d 161 (1981)

The Petitioners assert that the 1905 A. B. Brooks Map is definitive proof that the road is a public road, and the Court should have granted the Petitioners' motion merely because the map hangs in the Upshur County Court House and depicts the road. The Petitioners were unable to substantiate any of the data or information that went into making the A. B. Brooks Map. There are no Upshur County Commission minutes regarding the road, nor any documents showing acceptance by the Upshur County Commission that the A. B. Brooks Map was drawn to depict public roads in existence at that time. The map shows hundreds of roads that existed in Upshur County in 1905 or earlier. The Circuit Court found by a specific finding of fact that the A. B. Brooks Map was not a public document and the Court could attribute no weight to the map or any other map, including any State Geological Survey Maps.

Professor John W. Fisher II did not cite any evidence that may have been supplied to him by the Petitioners or that he possessed that would satisfy any of these requirements. The opinion rendered by Professor John W. Fisher II is based upon a map referred to as the A. B. Brooks Map, which hangs in the Upshur County Court House. The Circuit Court of Upshur County made a specific finding in Paragraph 8 of its Final Order that the map is not a public record. The Court ruled in Michelle Ford v. Gary Dickerson et. al. 662 S.E. 2d 503 that the mere existence of a plat of record attempting to depict a public street does not make a street public, unless a public entity accepts the street as public. Syllabus Point 1 City of Point Pleasant v. Caldwell 87 W.VA. 277 104 S.E. 610 (1920). The existence of maps, plats, or other drawings does not confer upon a road public status short of being accepted. There was no evidence of acceptance of the road even if the road is on any map, be it the A.B. Brooks Map or an article in the paper about the map.

The Upshur County Circuit Court also made specific findings that there was no evidence of an eminent domain condemnation proceedings regarding the road and also made a finding there was no evidence of a private donation to a public entity and acceptance of the road by a public entity.

The Court also found that there was no evidence of continuous use of the road by the public or any expenditure of money for maintenance or construction on the road by any public entity. Town of Bancroft v. Turley 170 W. Va. 1 287 S.E. 2d 161 (1982).

The Court also found no evidence that the Upshur County Commission ever conscripted its citizens to perform work on the road. Further, the road was never traveled by the public as it was not a thru road. The road only served the Petitioners' real estate and was gated.

The opinion expressed by Professor John W. Fisher II is a great story with no evidence to support the bright line of Ryan et. al. v. Monongalia County Court.

The Petitioners' brief did not address the Ryan case and appeared to disregard the case.

The Petitioners have totally failed to address the basis of the Court's reliance on Ryan and how a road may become pubic in West Virginia.

The granting of the Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment by the Circuit Court was clear, and there are no genuine issues of any facts. The conclusions of law as articulated in the Final Order are clear and concise. Syllabus Point 3 Fayette County National Bank v. Lilly 199 W. VA. 349 484 S.E. 2d 232 (1997). Michelle L. Ford et. al. v. Gary Dickerson et. al. 662 S.E. 2d 503.

The Petitioners have failed to introduce any evidence to comply with the well settled law in West Virginia, as to how the private road became a public road as they allege. The road serves only the Petitioners' house and there is no public outlet.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT COMMIT PLAIN ERROR IN GRANTING THE RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY AND FINDING THAT RIGHT-OF-WAY WAS CREATED BY PRESCIPTION

The Petitioners have consistently refused to accept the idea that the roadway through the Respondents' real estate to their real estate was established by prescription and by no other means.

In their initial pleading, the Respondents recognized the roadway on their land as being acquired by prescription by the Petitioners. The historical usages alleged by the Respondents were for ingress and regress to the Petitioners' home and occasionally farming use by the Petitioners. The Petitioners have consistently denied the existence of a prescriptive easement by pleading.

The third assignment of error states that the Circuit Court committed plain error in granting the Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment with no findings of fact as to prescription.

The issue of prescription obviously troubles the Petitioners, and the Respondents would concede to the Petitioners that no road exists even though the Respondents have agreed that a prescriptive right-of-way exists. The necessary elements required to establish a prescriptive easement are defined in Michael J. O'Dell v. Robert and Virginia Stegall et.al. 226 W.Va. 590, 203 S.E. 2d 561 (2010)

The location of the roadway in this case is easily ascertained. The width of the roadway is clearly visible. A prescriptive easement cannot be expanded for a future use by the Petitioners to remove timber or for any other usage. Michael O'Dell v. Robert and Virginia Stegall et.at.

The attempt to expand the road to twenty-five (25) feet wide with additional cuts and slopes so as to cut timber has not been approved by the Respondents nor is there any evidence that such width ever existed. Wade v. McDougle 50 W.VA. 113 52. S.E. 1026.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR BY REFUSING TO EXPAND THE EXISTING WIDTH OF THE EASEMENT

The Petitioners' claim in this case is that they need a right-of-way at least twenty-five (25) foot in width plus slopes in order to remove timber from their real estate. In the alternative,

the Petitioners assert that any single lane county road must have a width of twenty-five (25) feet (functional width). The Petitioners wish to argue functional width but cite no law allowing such argument. The roadway at issue is a single roadway lined by trees of various ages. The roadway has existed in its present location and width for many years. There are no metes and bounds description of the road as the roadway only served the two (2) properties for ingress and regress and farming purposes. Michael J. O'Dell v. Robert and Virginia Stegall et.al effectively outlines how a prescriptive easement can be established and more importantly the usages and width. A right-of-way acquired by prescription for one purpose can't be broadened or diverted for another purpose, and its character and extent are determined by the use of it during the period of prescription. Syllabus Point 3, Munk v. Gillenwater, 141 W.VA. 27, 87 S.E. 2d 537 (1955). The Petitioners are not entitled to increase the burden on the land. Crane v. Hayes 187 W.Va. 198, 417 S.E. 2d 117 (1992)

The Circuit Court in this matter properly found that the roadway could not be expanded merely because the Petitioner snow have a specific usage (timbering) for the road

The roadway is not a public road and the roadway is not established by any deed.

The Petitioners' argument that the minimum right-of-way by statute is thirty (30) foot wide would be a condemnation of the real estate and is irrelevant.

The Petitioners failed to introduce any evidence of a deed or any evidence of a condemnation proceeding to condemn the Respondent's predecessor real estate at any time.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, the Respondents urge the Court to affirm the decision of the Circuit Court of Upshur County.

The Court made extensive findings of fact and appropriate conclusions of law based upon the limited amount of evidence presented by the Petitioners. The sole issue in this case is whether the road is a public road. As discussed, the Petitioners have failed to satisfy the Ryan v. Monongalia County Court standard. The decision below should be affirmed.